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n abemotiam,

Philip Schuyler,

BREVET MAJOR, LATE U. S. ARMY.

Died, November 29, 1906, at Lawyer, Va.
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HEADQUARTRRS CNOMMANDERY OF THR S7ATK oF NkW YORK.

140 NASSAU STREET.

Nelw York. December 31, 1906,

At a stated meeting of this Commandery, held at Delmonico’s, corner
of Fifth Avenue and Forty-fourth Street, the following was adopt'ed as
the report of the Committee appointed to draft resolutions relative to
Original Companion Brevet Major PHiLiP ScHUYLER, late U. S. Army
(Insignia No. 1249), who died at Lawyer, Va,, November 29, 1906, aged
70 years.

REPORT.

The sudden extinguishment of the life of Philip Schuyler, along with
other valuable lives in the harrowing casualty by collision of trains on
the Southern Railway, near Lynchburg, Virginia, on the morning of the
national Thanksgiving, November 29, 1906, removed from the active roster
of this Commandery, the name of one of its cherished members.

Among historical ancestries in the United States, Philip Schuyler's
ancest%both on the paternal and maternal sides, was one of the first distine-

tion. e was the great-grandson of his namesake Major-General Phili
Schuyler, Continental Army, and later United States Senator for New
York; and also of Alexander Hamilton, whose memo is revered
next to that of the Father of his Country. From snch progenitors,
it is natural to believe, were transmitted not a few rare and signal
traits of character, to the fine spirit of our lamented Companion.
None of us perhaps has ever known a more engaging character.
Sympathetic in his relations to all, loyal in his friendships, a happy partic-
ipant in the choicer amenities of life, he was incapable of an unworthy
tgought or deed. Words of personal detraction never passed his lips. His
seeech, however earnest, like his temper, was ever mild and moderate.
None knew him but to respect and admire him. Those within the circle
of his intimate friends, a large one of many varying personalities, are all
at one in the appreciation of his innate refinement, his generous, manly
attributes, and his delicate consideration for others. His manners were
open, courteous and even courtly. Hospitality was one of his constant
enjoyments. An ideal host, he was far and wide a coveted guest,

gg was an ardent lover of nature, and incidentally of field sports.
True to the ethics of a sportsman, he invariably observed their limitations
and restrictions. It was upon an inviting shooting trip to the South in
genial company that he passed fromssleep at early dawn to death  wrought,
as fondly believed, unconsciously.

Philip Schuyler, the only son of George Lee and Eliza Hamilton Schuy-
ler, was born in the City of New York, June 20, 1836. Hismore advanc-
ed education tended toward a scientific career. He entered the Lawrence
Scientific School of Harvard University in the year 1852 and there remain-
ed until 1854, especially under the tunition and influence of Louis Agassiz.
He spent the winter of 1856-7 in attendance upon lectures at the Univer.
sity of Berlin, particularly those of Magnus and Dove. On his return to
New York he became interested in the study of law, which he pursued in
the office of the late Benjamin D. Silliman.




Philip Schuyler had his first training in the ‘‘ school of the soldier”
in the line of the Seventh Regiment National Guard, State of New York,
which he joined in the year 1859. He first saw service as a private in this
regiment, April, 1861, when, in response to the call of President Lincoln
for State troops for defense of the Capital, it promptly rallied at Washing-
ton April 25—1,156 strong. When mustered out of the Volunteer service
May 30, 1861, the strength of the regiment had increased to 1,250.

Philip Schuyler was one of the first of the great number of young
commissioned officers of the Civil War who graduated from the Seventh
Regiment as from a military school of the first order. Ilis commission as
First Lieutenant in the Regular Army reached him in the defences of
Washington. He had then been advanced to the grade of Corporal. Ilis
subsequent Military Record as takeu from Henry’s Civilian Appointments,
U. S. Army, is substantially as follows:

MiLitary History.—First Lieutenant, 14th U. S. Infantry, May 14,
1861. On regimental recruiting service, at Hartford, Conn., and Utica,
N. Y., to November, 1861. Regimental Adjutant, November, 1861. At
Fort Trumbull, Conn., Perryville, Md., Alexandria, Va., and Fort Trum-
bull, Conn., to July, 1868. Captain, 14th U. S. Infantry, July 11, 1868,
With regiment, to December, 1863. Engaged at the battle of Rappahan-
nock Station, and operations at Mine Run, Va. Acting Assistant Adju-
tant-General to Brigadier-General Marsena R. Patrick, Provost-Marshal-
General, Army of the Potomac, Headquarters, Army of the Potomac, to
November, 1864. Acting Provost-Mashal-General, ‘* Armies operating
against Richmond " to March, 1865. Acting Assistant Adjutant-General
to Brevet Brigadier-General George N. Macy, Provost-Marshal-General,
Army of the Fotomac, to May, 1865. Acting Assistant Adjutant-General
to the Provost-Marshal-General, Department of Virginia, Richmeond, to
June, 1865. Engaged in Grant's campaign of 1864 and 1865, before Rich-
mond and Petershurg, Va. Brevet Major, U. S. Army, April 9, 1865,
“ for gallant and meritorious services during the recent operations resulting
in the fall of Richmoud, Va., and the surrender of the Insurgent Army
under General R. E. Lee."”

During such operations he served in the Provost-Marshal-General's
division of the General Staff of the Army of the Potomac, General Meade
commanding. These involved the battles of the Wilderness, May, 186G4;
Spottsylvania, May, 1864 ; and the actions of North Anna River, May, 1864;
Cold Harbor, June, 1864; Petersburg, June, 16-17, 1864 ; Weldon Railway,
May, 1864; Boydton Plank-Road, October, 1864 ; Hatcher's Run, March,
1865 ; Five Forks, March, 1863; Petersburg, April 2, 18635, and Amelia
Court IHouse, April, 1865. :

Major Schuyler's resignation of April, 1865, took effect June 30, 1865.

He was called to many positions of honor and trust, all of which he
occupied with marked efficiency and fidelity. Most of these were within
the sphere of altruistic work, and of the higher duties of the citizen. To
such work and responsibilities he devoted his characteristic cnergy and
ability without emolument. Amenable to the charms of social life, he
entered into many a sodality of congenial spirits. His memory is cherished
by numerous social clubs and associations in the City of New York and
efsewhere. An interest in the art of yacht construction and sailing was
handed down to him by his father, George L. Schuyler.

At the time of his death, Philip Schuyler was president of the New
York Hospital, Union Club and Ardsley Club. He was a trustee of the New
York Public Library, Director of the Zoological Society, memberof the New
York and Seawanhaka Yacht Clubs, Century Association, Harvard Club,
Knickerbocker Club, St. Nicholas Society, the Order of the Cincinnati and
Sons of the Revolution. He was also a member and patron of several
metropolitan scientific and other societies.

In 1872 Philip Schuyler married the widow of Eugene Langdon snee
Lowndes. He inherited the Nevis estate, at [rvington-on-Hudson, of his




maternal grandfather, James A. Hamilton, who in 1835 built the mansion,
naming the place after the Island of Nevis where his father, Alexander
Hamilton, was born. Here in this beautiful and much-loved home Philip
Schuyler passed the last decades of his life, He left no descendants. His
widow, and two sisters, Louisa Lee Schuyler and Georgina Schuyler, sur-
vive him.

The funeral services were held on December 1, 1906, at the Church of
Saint Barnabas, Irvington, Rev. Dr. Willlam H. Benjamin officiating,
assisted by Rev. Dr. Leighton Parks. Among the large number of
sorrowing friends who attended the services were many representative
men, and delegations from several leading organizations and clubs. The
interment was in the Cemetery at Sleepy Hollow, Tarrytown.

Resolued, That this Commandery has received with profound sorrow
the announcement of the sudden death of Companion Philip Schuyler, who
was an exemplar of all manly virtues, a gallant soldier, an ideal citizen, a
Christian gentleman.

Resolved, That this brief tribute to his memory be entered upon the
minutes, and that copies be sent to his widow and members of his family.

JAMES GRANT WILSON,

Brevet Brigadier-General, U. S. V. 1
ALEXANDER S. WEBB, 3

Brevet Major-General, late U. S. A. Committee.
JAMES P. KIMBALL, i

Brevet Major, U. S. V. J

By OnrpER oF
BReVET BRIGADIER-GENERAL THOMAS H. Hussarp, U. S. Volunteers,

Commander,

A. NOEL BLAKEMAN,
Acting Assistant Paymaster, late U. S. Navy,

Recordesr
OFFICIAL.

Recorder.




PREFACE

| I A\HIS memoir is based on General Schuyler’s
papers and letter books, on the Gates
papers belonging to the New York His-
torical Society, on the archives of the State Depart-
ment in Washington, and on some other collections

of original historical material.
BAvyArRD TUCKERMAN.
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Life of
General Philip Schuyler
X

CHAPTER 1.

The Province of New York:—The Hudson River
Manors—The Schuyler Family.

company of provincials in the forest fights of

the French and Indian War, until he sat in
the Senate of the United States as the representative
of the State of New York, there elapsed about forty
years. These years were replete with momentous
changes for his country, and with patriotic thought
and action on the part of Schuyler. The victory of
Wolfe ended the long and bloody struggle between
England and France for supremacy in North America.
Thenceforth the English Colonies, which yet only
skirted the Atlantic coast, were free to carry westward
their course of empire. And, what was even more
important, the colonists, relieved from the threatening
pressure of French aggression, were enabled to sast

I

FROM the days when Philip Schuyler led his



LIFE OF GENERAL PHILIP SCHUYLER

off the paralyzing reliance on the protection of the
mother country; they were inspired to determine rea-
sonably and to assert courageously their rights as free
men; finally to wring independence from the powerful
England of Pitt, and to establish on enduring founda-
tions a mighty nation. Those stirring years called
as much for high thinking as for gallant fighting, and
a patriot in that time had many parts to play.

The province of New York, in the middle of the
eighteenth century, was a fringe of settlements on the
Hudson River, Manhattan Island and Long Island.
The town of New York, marked by nature as the
principal seaport of the Atlantic coast, contained the
mass of the population. Along the banks of the
Hudson River, scattered here and there through the
vast expanse of forest, wherever nature offered least
resistance to man, rose the farmhouses of Dutch and
English settlers. At the northern end of the great
watery highway stood Albany, the headquarters of
the fur trade, the gateway to Canada and the western
lakes.

As the boy is father to the man, the town of New
York in its infancy of fourteen thousand inhabitants
presented features which were destined to characterize
the city throughout its magnificent growth. While
Boston and Philadelphia were English towns, New
York was cosmopolitan from the first. The Dutch
predominated, followed by the English and French.
While the English tongue was steadily making its way

2



COLONIAL NEW YORK

as the language of the province, forcing the domines
to adopt it in their churches, Dutch and French were
heard on every side. The same variety prevailed in
religion. 'The Dutch Reformed, the Lutherans, the
Presbyterians and the Episcopalians had their
churches, and a synagogue was not wanting. The
different nationalities, still looking to Europe for their
standards of life, kept up as they could the customs
and ambitions of the fatherland. The Dutchman,
grown rich through the fur trade or the brewery,
built his new house of brick with gable end to the
street and roofed it with tiles imported from Holland.
The English merchant or landed proprietor adopted
the style which we call colonial with its simple and
beautiful front extended toward the street. Within
these doorways were to be found the furniture and
the customs of the land still regarded as home.

At the foot of Broadway stood Government House,
the political and usually the social centre. There
the English Governor lived in some state, and gath-
ered about him was a little court composed of the
provincial aristocracy, the proprietary families, the
wealthier merchants, the lawyers, the clergymen and
the officers of the garrison. Among these people
was no little social activity, and when, on Sundays and
holidays, they gathered to take the air on the Battery
or the Mall, the lesser sort were expected not to
approach too near. From this aristocratic circle the
social scale descended through the tradesmen, the

3



LIFE OF GENERAL PHILIP SCHUYLER

mechanics, the shifting crowd of laborers and sailors
to the negro slaves. As emigrants arrived, there was
no lack of opportunity for employment, and the in-
dustrious soon made their way forward to comfort.

On the west side of Broadway, the pretty English
and Dutch gardens of the principal houses sloped to
the shore of the Hudson River. The most thickly
inhabited district lay on the east side, between the
dwellings on Broadway and the warehouses on the
East River. But even here the buildings were de-
tached, and the trees were so numerous that from
the deck of the approaching vessel the town seemed
built in 2 wood. Above Maiden Lane extended
farms and orchards, watered by ponds and running
streams.

It was for material advancement that the seas had
been crossed, and the pursuit of gain was the absorb-
ing thought of the population. Nothing, as we are
told by an intelligent contemporary, was more neg-
lected than reading and education. While New
England, with less wealth, had two colleges, it was
not until 1754 that New York saw the founding of
King’s College. In the absence of mental cultiva-
tion, as reached through books or the arts, the inhab-
itants had much to stimulate their intelligence. The
problems presented by life in a new country enclosed
between the wilderness and the sea, the contest against
nature and the effort to establish trade in the face of
artificial obstacles, all tended to develop industry,

4



COLONIAL NEW YORK

perseverance and ingenuity. Two great causes of
division existed, provocative of much debate and
tending to prepare the minds of men for the greater
questions of public policy soon to be forced upon them.
These were the struggle for supremacy between aris-
tocratic and democratic sentiments, and, akin to it,
the contest between episcopacy and the other Protes-
tant bodies. The aristocratic traditions of the old
world were adhered to by a majority of the upper
classes, but some powerful families, like the Delanceys,
and the mass of the people were becoming yearly
more democratic. 'The effort to make the Episcopal
church the established religion of the province aroused
the strenuous opposition of other religious denomina-
tions. The party lines drawn on these subjects were
not wholly decided by wealth. The proprietor of
land, whose ambition was to found a family of which
the property and dignity should be entailed, might be
a Presbyterian fighting the pretensions of episcopacy.
The Episcopal merchant, maintaining the desirability
of a state church, might oppose the aristocratic ten-
dencies of a lord of the manor. The relations of
the province to England contained much that was
irritating, and the mental attitude of the people was
constantly becoming more independent and self-
reliant. Even in the cabinet at Versailles it was fore-
seen that England would find it difficult to keep her
colonies in subjection when the fall of New France
removed the need of protection.
5



LIFE OF GENERAL PHILIP SCHUYLER

While the busy streets, fine houses and social amuse-
ments of New York made it seem a great capital to
the country dweller, and a very seat of luxury to the
trader emerging from the forest, Albany was a primi-
tive Dutth town, in which homely labors and simple
amusements were varied only by the excitements
incidental to its frontier position. The town stood
on the side of the hill which formed the west bank
of the Hudson, its few streets lined by gabled Dutch
houses, some built with great solidity and no little
beauty, all neatly kept. From each roof extended a
spout, which in rainy weather cast a small cascade
upon the pedestrian. Each house had the traditional
stoop upon which the family sat in the evening ex-
changing salutations with the passers-by. A crum-
bling fort, useless except against Indians, represented
the military power. The church stood prominent as
the most important edifice, its windows adorned by
the coats of arms of the principal families. Christen-
ings, marriages and funerals were the chief causes of
social reunion or excitement. The women were ab-
sorbed in the ceaseless round of household duties in
which they maintained the hereditary standard of
Dutch neatness. Even in the wealthy families, there
were no servants except the negro slaves, who were
unequal to relieving their mistresses of more than
the drudgery.

An ambitious young man took up the career which
contained the greatest promise of reward, the fur

6



COLONIAL ALBANY

trade. For success, he needed all his hardihood and
endurance. It was his perilous task to paddle a
canoe, laden with hatchets, blankets, gunpowder, and
rum, through the watery highways and byways of
the forest; to seek his trade among the distant and
roving savages; to paddle homeward his load of
peltries, never secure until the canoe floated again
upon the safe waters of the Hudson. When he did
not return, his friends could only conjecture, whether
the tomahawk of a covetous savage, or the whirling
rapids, or the privations of the forest, had caused
his end. Success meant the building of a sloop, the
extension of trade to New York, even to the West
Indies, the investment of gains in tracts of wild land,
which had to be cleared, settled and made a source
of income to the now wealthy father of a family. On
the part of both women and men, the circumstances
of life called for the cultivation of the qualities of
industry and courage, while the intellectual and social
side was of necessity neglected. 'This was true, only
in a less degree, of the aristocracy of the town, the
Van Rensselaers, the Schuylers, the Ten Broecks, the
Cuylers and other allied families. It was a virtuous
and orderly community, in which the domine had little
to do but to expound the Gospel and comfort the
sick.

The calm routine of Albany was rudely broken
by the French and Indian War. As the headquarters
for northern operations, the town became the rendez-

7
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vous of scarlet-coated regiments, of boat-builders and
militia. At times, the regular inhabitants seemed
lost in the crowd, and the influx of rough men caused
such disorders that the Mayor told the English com-
mander that if he would take his men back to New
York the Dutch would defend their frontiers them-
selves. The dances and plays introduced into the
staid society of the place by the officers in garrison
upset all the preconceived ideas of propriety, and
fears for the spiritual welfare of his flock hastened
the death of old domine Frelinghuysen.

Connecting the frontier town of the province with
its capital and seaport, flowed the majestic Hudson,
the great, almost the only highway for transportation
and travel, and the natural feature of the country of
the highest interest to the inhabitants. The sloops
which tacked up and down its beautiful course fulfilled
all the objects of railway, steamboat and telegraph.
The movement of lumber and produce between the
settlements, the exchange of business or social visits
sought the pathway of the great river. It was with
a sense of isolation that the inhabitants saw their
road to market and to friends closed by the hand of
winter; and in the spring, the distant boom which
announced the breaking up of the ice was welcomed
alike by the trader, the farmer and the inmates of
the manor house, who sought a view of the frozen
river to watch with pleasurable anticipations the
cracking and motion of its surface. 1In the cabinets

8



THE HUDSON RIVER FAMILIES

of Versailles and of London, where ministers of state
bent over the map of America, the Hudson River,
how to use, to gain or to defend it, was the absorbing
consideration. The changes of time have altered the
uses and the meaning of the Hudson. Its beauties
and its romance enshrined in the immortal words of
Irving, its shores adorned by fruitful farms and noble
country seats, the river flows on as of old, a source of
pride and pleasure to the living, and a bond of asso-
ciation with the generations of the past who loved to
live along its wooded slopes.

In the middle of the eighteenth century, there were
four families in the province of New York whose
:ntimate connection with each other and whose com-
mon interests on the Hudson River make them a part
of the time and events which we are considering.
These were the Van Rensselaers, the Schuylers, the
Van Cortlandts and the Livingstons. The first three
were Dutch; the ancestor of the fourth was Scotch,
but his descendants had more Dutch than Scotch
blood. All were proprietary families, so connected
by marriage, intimacy and business interests that their
influence was usually exerted in harmony and was
considerable in a community still dominated by, aris-
tocratic ideas.

Of these families, the first to be established in
New York and the only one which had the advantage
of any wealth in the beginning, was that of Van
Rensselaer. In 1629, the Dutch West India Com-

9
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pany, which had planted the colony called New
Netherland, realized its inability as a purely trading
company to settle its territory with agricultural
colonists whose presence would give value to the land.
As the population of Holland was not so exuberant as
to cause a natural overflow, it was necessary to offer
special inducements to emigrants. The company
hoped to shift upon individuals the expenses and risks
involved, and in pursuance of that policy, invented
the system of patroonships, founded on a national
prejudice. The wealthy Dutch burgher nourished
the ambition to rise in the social scale by becoming
a proprietor of land and attaining the dignity thereto
associated. In thickly settled Holland, the possibili-
ties in this direction were exceedingly limited. To
this ambition the West India Company oftered a
feudal lordship in New Netherland on condition of
planting and maintaining there a colony of actual
settlers. 'The offer was accepted in several cases, but
in all, except in that of Kiliaen Van Rensselaer, the
attempt was unsuccessful; the system was soon dis-
avowed by the company, who bought up or abolished
the rights already granted to patroons. They en-
deavoured also to obtain possession of Rennselaer-
wyck, but were balked by the persistency of that
family, who made the sole permanent establishment
of a patroonship.

Rennselaerwyck was a tract of land beginning at
the mouth of the Mohawk River, extending south-

10



THE HUDSON RIVER FAMILIES

ward twenty-four miles along the banks of the Hud-
son, and on either side of that river twenty-four miles
east and west. It contained about seven hundred
thousand acres; the present cities of Albany and Troy
are within its limits. The family afterwards became
possessed of Claverack, sometimes called the Lower
Manor, containing stxty-two thousand acres, the land-
ing place of which is now the town of Hudson. The
territory of Rensselaerwyck was diminished from time
to time from various causes, but it remained the
Jargest estate in the province.

Kilizen Van Rensselaer was a director in the West
India Company and a merchant of Amsterdam whose
family had formerly possessed a manorial estate in
Gelderland, adjoining that of John of Barneveld’s
family. He died in 1646 and never visited America.
Nor did his son Johannes, the second patroon, who
died young, leaving a son Kiliaen, the third patroon,
who came to Albany and received from the English
government the patent which changed the patroonship
in New Netherland into a manor in the province of
New York. Two years later, in 1687, he died with-
out children.

During the life of the first patroon, the colony
was managed by his cousin, Arent Van Corlear, whose
dealings with the Indians were so tactful and just
that for more than a century afterwards the inhabit-
ants of Albany were personified in their language
by the word “Corlear.” He was succeeded by Van

I1
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Schlectenhorst, a man who needed all his rude courage
to maintain the rights of the patroon against the
assaults of Peter Stuyvesant, who, as director general
of New Netherland, was hostile to the semi-independ-
ence of Rensselaerwyck. The feudal sovereignty
claimed by the patroon and the consequent quarrels
with the government at New Amsterdam are illus-
trated rather amusingly by the following incident.
Govert Lookermans, a well known citizen of New
Amsterdam, brother-in-law of Oloff Stevense Van
Cortlandt, had been up to the Mohawk River trading
with the Indians. On his return he sat smoking at
the helm of his little sloop as she drifted slowly by
the fort at Rensselaerwyck. One Nicholas Koorn,
lately appointed “swatchmeeister,” bawled at him from
the palisades, “*Strike your flag " “For whom shall
I strike?” inquired Lookermans. “For the staple
right of Rensselaerstein!” ¢ 1 strike for no man,”
replied Lookermans contemptuously, ‘‘but the Prince
of Orange and those by whom I am employed.” Be-
fore he could pass out of range a cannon boomed and
a shot struck the “princely flag” just above his head.
The wrath of Lookermans lost no strength during the
days which elapsed before his peltry laden sloop came
to anchor in the East River, and at the report which
he carried to the governor, old Stuyvesant stamped
his wooden leg with rage.

Three of the younger sons of the first patroon acted
in turn as agents. One of these, Jeremias, lived at

12
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Rensselaerwyck for seventeen years and died there.
He married the daughter of Oloft Stevense Van Cort-
landt, and one of his daughters married Peter Schuy-
ler. Until 1695, Rensselaerwyck remained part of
the first patroon’s undivided estate. In that year the
representative of the older branch of the family in
Holland, named Kiliaen, came out to Albany, met
the representative of the younger branch, also named
Kiliaen, and together they agreed that the older
branch should take all the property in Holland and
the younger all that in America. Thus Rennselaer-
wyck came into the possession of the children of
Jeremias, younger son of the first patroon. ' These
were Kiliaen, Hendrick and two daughters. Kiliaen,
as eldest son, took Rensselaerwyck proper, becoming
fourth patroon and second lord of the manor. Hen-
drick took the estate of Claverack, and the daughters
each received a farm.

When Kiliaen Van Rensselaer came out from Hol-
land to make a settlement with his cousin Kiliaen in
America, he was no doubt well pleased with the result.
When he contrasted his life in the advanced civiliza-
tion of Amsterdam with the problems of existence
amidst the forests of the new world, he must have
been glad to leave their solution to his relations. The
American Van Rensselaers, although possessing privi-
leges and a vast domain, were far from being placed
beyond the common cares and efforts of their fellow
colonists. The land was unproductive without the
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labor of man. Slowly tenants were induced to settle
at a nominal rent, who would fell the trees, plant
wheat among the stumps and raise human dwellings
through the hunting grounds of the savage. Grad-
ually the elk and the deer became less frequent; year
by year, the sound of the axe was heard deeper in
the forest; one wild stream after another was set to
work and its pleasant voice lost in the rasping of the
saw. The colony founded by the enterprising mer-
chant of Amsterdam yielded no profit to him. The
descendants of his younger son reaped the advantage
of the efforts and growth of a long series of years. By
the middle of the eighteenth century Rensselaerwyck
and Claverack contained many fine farms and a nu-
merous tenantry. The proprietors lived quiet and
uneventful lives, possessing much influence, but taking
little part in public affairs. The Dutch title of patroon
clung to the head of the family until 1839, a curious
survival of an outgrown past. Philip Schuyler mar-
ried a Van Rensselaer of Claverack, his daughter mar-
ried the last patroon, and his son the patroon’s sister.

When the ship “Haring’ cast anchor oft the fort at
New Amsterdam in 1637, with supplies and a gar-
rison for the little trading settlement, there landed
among the common soldiers one called Oloft Stevense,
afterwards known as Van Cortlandt. Young, poor,
ambitious, he had sailed away from Holland to carve
out for himself in a distant wilderness a career and
a fortune of which he saw small prospect at home.

14
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He soon left his messmates in the fort and entered
the civil service of the company, where his education
and industry caused his promotion to be keeper of the
stores. 'The ready money saved in this employment
enabled him to begin business for himself. Trade in
furs increased his resources; he established a brewery
:n Whitehall Street and soon became 2 leading man,
respected as much for his character as for his wealth.
He was successively captain of the train band, one
of the Nine Men, the first representative body in the
colony, a signer of the Remonstrance to the States
General against the tyranny of Stuyvesant, burgo-
master, a delegate to Hartford in 1663 to settle the
New England boundaries, and one of the commis-
sioners chosen to negotiate with Governor Nichols
the surrender of the province to England in 1664.
Before his death, in 1684, he had reached the goal
of his ambition, as regarded both his own position
and that of his children. His daughter married
Frederick Philipse, the proprietor of the manor at
Philipsburg, now Yonkers. His second son, Jacobus,
married Eve Philipse, the heiress of extensive lands in
Westchester County, and their daughter was the
mother of John Jay.

The eldest son, Stephanus, the founder of the
manor of Cortlandt, married Gertruyd, the daughter
of Philip Pieterse Schuyler. Like his father, Ste-
phanus was a man of energy, force and breadth of
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character, ready to serve his country as well as him-
self. He accumulated a considerable property of his
own independently of that left him by his father. In
1677, when thirty-four years old, he was appointed
Mayor of New York and was the first native born
citizen to hold that office. In 1680, he became a
member of the King's Council and retained his seat
until his death, except during the two years of Leisler's
usurpation, during which exciting period he was
obliged to seek refuge in turn at Albany, in New
England and New Jersey. The absence of legal edu-
cation in the province caused the appointment of
intelligent laymen to judicial positions, and Van
Cortlandt sat on the bench as justice of the Supreme
Court and as the first judge of the Court of Common
Pleas of King's County. He was always a valued
adviser of the English governors, and for many years
was entrusted by them with the collection of the
provincial revenues.

As soon as his means allowed, Stephanus Van Cort-
landt gratified his ambition to become the proprietor
of a manor. He purchased from the Indians a tract
on the east side of the Hudson, beginning at the
mouth of the Croton River, extending northward to
'‘Anthony’s Nose and to the eastward twenty miles into
the woods, for which he received a patent from
William III. The old manor house still stands, pro-
tected by 2 hill from the north winds and looking
southward for manv miles over the Tappan See. It
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has always been inhabited by descendants of the
founder of the manor, and its hospitality was ever
the dependence of travellers journeying up and down
the river. From its veranda George Whitefield
preached. During the Revolution, Franklin, Wash-
ington, Rochambeau, Lafayette and Luzerne were its
guests. Itis probably the best example of a colonial
house built for defence as well as for residence. Its
thick stone walls pierced by loop holes for musketry,
the Indian arrow heads which are picked up in its
beautiful garden, make it an interesting relic of the
past. :

Stephanus Van Cortlandt had numerous children
who married into the Van Rensselaer, Schuyler, de
Peyster, de Lancey, Bayard and Beeckman families.
His youngest daughter, Cornelia, was the mother of
General Philip Schuyler. At the time of the Revolu-
tion, the proprietor of the manor was Pierre Van
Cortlandt, who, with his son Pierre, rejected the
overtures of Governor Tryon and supported with
energy the patriot cause. The father was a member
of the first provincial Congress and president of the
Committee of Public Safety. The son became a
lieutenant colonel in the continental service.

The Van Rensselaer, Schuyler and Van Cortlandt
families had been established for many years in the
province when Robert Livingston arrived in 1674, at

the same time that Governor Andros came to manage
the colony for the Duke of York. Of worldly goods
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he brought little or nothing, but a great store of
ambition and industry. His great-grandfather, his
grandfather and his father were ministers of the
church of Scotland. His father, banished for non-
conformity, passed the last years of his life at Rotter-
dam, where Robert obtained the familiarity with the
Dutch language and people which was so useful to
him in America. Although he was imbued with the
religion of his ancestors, its profession did not appeal
to his adventurous and acquisitive character. It was
at the age of twenty that he ascended the Hudson
River to the frontier town of Albany, and obtained
the position of secretary to the commissioners to
whom was entrusted the local government. With a
thrift both Scotch and Dutch, he saved enough from
his salary and fees to begin trading. In nine years
he was sufficiently well off to make his first purchase
of land on the east bank of the Hudson; and in 1683
he married Alyda, daughter of Philip Pieterse
Schuyler, and widow of Rey. Nicholas Van Rensse-
laer. In 1686, he received the patent erecting his
lands into the manor of Livingston. In 1692, he
built a small house above Livingston Creek, but he
did not begin to live there until 1711, his official
duties requiring his presence at Albany. He died in
1728. At the time of the Revolution, several de-
scendants of his were men of exceptional distinction
and influence: William Livingston, of New Jersey;
Philip, signer of the Declaration of Independence;
18
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Robert R., the chancellor of New York; and Edward,
the author of the Louisiana Code.

During the earlier years of the province of New
York, before the issues involved in the Revolution
were raised, the most important public interest of the
inhabitants—the danger which touched them most
nearly—was the attitude toward them of the Indjan
Confederacy called the Six Nations. Intelligent,
ferocious, and jealous of encroachment, these savages
lived at the very doors of the province; they barred
the road to the West, and were capable of overwhelm-
ing the settlements about Albany and on the Hudson
River. Moreover, the almost continuous hostility
between the French in Canada and the English
colonists gave to this Confederacy a balance of power
of which they recognized the full valye. They were
able to make the northern portions of the province
uninhabitable for white men; and had they given to
the French their active alliance, and had they joined
the scalping knife of the Iroquois to the cannon of
the trained soldier in a united attack, the plans of
Frontenac might have been carried out. The F rench
Governor writing to Versailles, the English to Lon-
don, bore the same testimony to the efficacy of the
barrier between the rival nations which was formed
by the Indian Confederacy. That this bulwark
against French invasion was maintained, that good
relations with the savages were kept up, that the fur
trader could reach the western lakes, and that the
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Dutchman could sleep securely in Albany, were
benefits due chiefly, before 1745, to members of the
Schuyler family. 1In the wars and the diplomacy of
the frontier, that name was most frequently heard,
and men who bore it were most conspicuous in the
public service.

In 1650, Philip Pieterse, the founder of the family,
emigrated from Amsterdam to Rensselaerwyck, and
soon after married the daughter of Van Schlechten-
horst, the patroon’s agent. In 1652, occurred one
of the periodical conflicts between the West India
Company’s soldiers at Fort Orange and the repre-
sentatives of the patroon. A son of Van Schlechten-
horst was dragged through the street by soldiers,
while the company’s commissary stood by, crying,
“Let him have it now and the devil take him!"” At
this juncture young Schuyler appeared, threw himself
lustily into the fight and rescued his brother-in-law
in spite of the odds. His hardihood, enterprise and
faith in the future of his adopted country made him
a leading and prosperous man. His pursuit of the
fur trade was carried on not only with profit, but with
a justice and intelligence which established relations
of peculiar confidence between his family and the
savage tribes. His house at The Flatts, a few miles
north of Albany, lay directly in the path of the Indians
on their way to the town by land or river. At the
house they found a2 willing hospitality, and on the
floor of the barn their dusky forms were stretched
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almost nightly. Thus Schuyler and his sons acquired
a familiarity with their character and a facility in
dealing with them which proved of great value to
the province. A personal feeling of friendship arose
on the part of the Indians to which was due the fact
that through all the disorders of the border no person
at The Flatts, unprotected as it was, received harm
from the savages.

The success of Philip Pieterse’s business operations
can be judged by his investments. The great posses-
sions of the Van Rensselaers made it necessary for
a purchaser of land to go to a considerable distance.
But Philip Pieterse secured two fine tracts within the
manor; The Flatts which he bought of Richard Van
Rensselaer when he returned to Holland, and the
large farm on the east side of the Hudson which
Joanna de Laet had received from Jeremiah Van
Rensselaer in liquidation of her claims to a share of
Rensselaerwyck. In Albany he owned a number of
lots besides his house on North Pearl Street. He had
a tract on the Mohawk River and another at Esopus,
now Kingston. He even extended his investments
to New York. There he owned two houses on the
corner of Exchange Place and Broadway, ‘“‘one being
a great new house, the other a small old one”, and
the lot on the corner of Rector Street and Broadway.
These properties he gave to his son Brandt and his
daughter Gertruyd when they married Cornelia and
Stephanus Van Cortlandt.
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Philip Pieterse Schuyler died in 1683, and was
buried from the old Dutch church where his arms
were emblazoned on one of the windows. Although
one of his daughters married the founder of the
manor of Livingston, another that of the manor of
Cortlandt, and his eldest son the granddaughter of
the first patroon, neither he nor his sons seem to have
had a similar aristocratic ambition. According to
Dutch traditions, his property was divided equally
among all his children, with the full consent of Peter,
the eldest, who, under the English law, might have
claimed all the lands.

Among the sons and grandsons of Philip Pieterse
were many who figure in the provincial annals and
especially in the records of forest war and negotiation.
The name occurs frequently and always creditably
in the stirring narratives of Francis Parkman. The
most distinguished was Peter, who, during the forty
years from 1684 to 1724, constantly played a leading
part.  Judge of the Court of Oyer and Terminer,
Mayor of Albany and chairman of the Board of
Indian Commissioners, he was not only a force in his
native town, but as a member of the council in New
York and three times acting governor, his influence
extended over the whole province. The familiarity
with the language and character of the Indians which
he acquired as a boy at The Flatts was the basis of
a power in dealing with the tribes which had no rival
in his time and afterwards was equalled only by the

22



THE SCHUYLER FAMILY

ability of Sir William Johnson. In the provincial
records we often see the figure of this sturdy and
tactful Dutchman, sometimes alone, sometimes accom-
panied by his brother-in-law, Livingston, and by Van
Cortlandt, seated about the council fire, smoking the
calumet and punctuating with belts of wampum the
figurative oratory of the forest. The famous Jesuit
Joncaire, naturalized among the Senecas and devoting
his life to winning over the Six Nations to the interests
of France, could not prevail against Peter Schuyler,
ascending the Mohawk in his birchbark canoe, follow-
ing the trail through the wilderness and in every
village “ keeping bright the chain of friendship.”
From the savages who enjoyed the hospitality of The
Flatts, Schuyler obtained information of the ceaseless
intrigues of the French, and more than once was able
to warn the frontiers of New England of approaching
danger. A picturesque incident in his career occurred
in 1710, when, partly to impress the Six Nations with
the power of England and partly to excite English
interest in the provincial struggles, Schuyler took four
Mohawk chiefs to London. Received as the guests
of the nation, fantastically attired by a theatrical cos-
tumer, introduced as Kings to Queen Anne by the
Earl of Shrewsbury, driven through the streets in
royal carriages and made the subject of essays by
Steele and Addison, they formed the sensation of the
day.

Peter Schuyler could fight as well as negotiate,
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could lead his savage allies on the warpath as well
as hold their allegiance by persuasion, The annals
of the time reveal him enduring the hardships of
partisan warfare, crouching at night in a hole scooped
out of the snow, before a fire which ljt up the faces of
companions where ferocity was always present and
treachery always to be dreaded. On one of these
occasions, when in pursuit of a Canadijan raiding party
in the depth of winter, starvation was added to ex-
posure and the danger of hostile rifles. The hungry
Schuyler rose from his bed of hemlock boughs and
was searching in the snow for a breakfast of nuts,
when he was called to a camp fire where his red allies
sat feasting about a steaming kettle. The kind of
men which he had both to command and to fight was
shown when a human hand ladled out of the kettle
betrayed to Schuyler that a Frenchman slain in the
previous day’s encounter had furnished the savage
meal.

In 1691, when aggressive measures against Fron-
tenac became necessary, Major Schuyler gathered
together a force of English, Dutch, Mohawks and
Mohegans, in all two hundred and sixty-six men. He
followed that warpath so long familiar to the colonists
and often afterwards to be trodden in the French
War and the Revolution—up the Hudson, through
Lakes George and Champlain and down the Richelieu
River to the waters of the St. Lawrence. The little
army built their canoes and fashioned their paddles
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in the woods, subsisting on the deer, elk and bear
which their hunting parties brought into camp. ILeay-
ing his canoes hidden and guarded on the banks of
the Richelieu, Schuyler followed the forest trails to
La Prairie on the St. Lawrence.

His plans were known to the F rench, who concerted
measures to destroy him. While the French com-
mander, Callieres, awaited his attack at La Prairie
with the greatly superior force of seven hundred men,
another body of Canadians and Indians equal to
Schuyler’s in number, under Valrenne, allowed him
to pass by unmolested in the woods, and then, posting
themselves on the return path to his canoes, prepared
to cut to pieces what might remain of his retreating
army. Between the two hostile forces, Schuyler must
win two victories or be utterly destroyed. It was
an hour before daylight when he reached La Prairie.
A French sentinel perceived the shadowy forms of
men gliding from tree to tree, shouted “ Quj Vive,”
fired his musket and ran in shouting the alarm.
Callieres was ill and his men seem to have indulged
in too much brandy the evening before. On one side
of the fort were encamped the Canadians and Indians,
on the other the French regulars. The former were
first attacked and driven with loss into the fort. The
regulars then rushed upon Schuyler’s men, who met
them with a volley which killed fifty and drove the
rest to cover. Forming again, they made another
attack, were again repulsed by a telling fire and were
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forced to take refuge with the Canadians and Indians
in the fort.

Having accomplished his object of inflicting loss
and defeat upon a force which he now perceived to
be largely superior to his own, Schuyler retreated
slowly, cutting down the growing corn as he went,
and entered again upon the forest trail which led to
his canoes on the Richeliew. His men had marched
all night, had fought their fight in the early dawn,
and now at nine o’clock, as they picked their way
through the bushes and trees, the forest ahead sud-
denly resounded with war whoops. Schuyler’s scouts
had met those of Valrenne’s ambushed force. Upon
a rocky ridge which crossed the trail, the French
officer had posted his men, lying three deep behind
fallen trees and hidden by bushes. The charge or-
dered by Schuyler met with such volleys of musketry
as to betray the great strength of the enemy. Then
Schuyler realized the extent of his danger, between
the semi-circle of rifles which barred his advance and
the avenging enemy which was surely following. “I
encouraged my men,” says his terse account, “and
told them there was no other choice, fight or die they
must, the enemy being between us and our canoes.”
The conflict which ensued was reported by Frontenac
himself as the most hotly contested ever fought on
the border. Charge after charge was desperately
made and furiously repelled, until the combatants
mingled together and fought hand to hand. Many
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Indians on both sides took to their heels, and the battle
was fought out by the whites and the bravest of their
savage allies. A French account says, “Ils enfon-
cerent notre ambuscade.”  “We broke through the
middle of their body,” reported Schuyler, “until we
got into their rear, trampling upon their dead; then
faced about them, and fought them until we made
them give way; then drove them, by strength of arm,
four hundred paces before us; and to say the truth
we were all glad to see them retreat.” And it was
time, for the forces of La Prairie were approaching
to avenge their discomfiture of the morning. Leaving
the dead, the knapsacks and a flag behind them,
Schuyler’s party reached their canoes with the
wounded, and after waiting for stragglers, of whom
five came in, they paddled back to Albany.

To the Six Nations, Peter Schuyler was known
under the name of “Quider.” According to the Indian
habit of impersonating nations and collective powers,
the name Corlear was always used to indicate the
Dutch or English Governor in New York, and the
authorities at Albany continued to be described, long
after Schuyler’s death, by the word Quider. The
individuals changed, but the treaties were still dis-
cussed and concluded with Corlear and Quider. At
the opening of the Revolutionary War, the com-
mittee of the continental congress, in seeking the
neutrality of the Six Nations, found it expedient to
address them as, “We, the representatives of the
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Congress and the descendants of Quider.” Thus, at
this distant and momentous juncture, was Peter
Schuyler’s departed spirit still present at the council
fire in the silent service of his country.

Johannes, a younger son of Philip Pieterse, was
only less active in public affairs than his distinguished
brother Peter. Indian Commissioner, Mayor of Al-
bany, the envoy of Governor Bellomont to Frontenac
in 1798, member of the Colonijal Assembly from 1705
to 1713, he was also a fighter. When Winthrop’s
expedition against Canada was abandoned, Captain
Johannes Schuyler resolved that at least one blow
should be struck; and with a party of volunteers he
made a successful attack upon La Prairie. After the
fight there, he sat with his band of raiders at dinner
in the forest, while the French alarm cannon boomed
from fort to fort. “We thanked the governor of
Canada,” he wrote in his journal, * for his salute of
heavy artillery during our meal.” Johannes was the
grandfather of General Schuyler and father of the
“American Lady” whose memoirs were written by
Mrs. Grant of Laggan.

His eldest son, Philip, was living on the family
lands at Saratoga, where he was occupied in clearing
and settling the surrounding wilderness. In Novem-
ber, 1745, the French officer Marin, leading a con-
siderable force of Canadians and Indians, made 2
descent upon the English frontiers. They approached
Saratoga at night, when the inhabitants were unsus-
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picious of danger, and sleeping. While the body qf
the invaders scattered to attack the different houses,
a party under an officer named Beauvais surrounded
Schuyler's dwelling. The subsequent occurrences are
related in a French manuscript written by 2 member
of the expedition. ‘“We went to the house of a man
named Philip Skulle (Schuyler), a brave man who
would have given us much trouble if he had had with
him a dozen men as valiant as himself. Beauvais, who
knew and liked him, went up to the house first, told
him his name and asked him to surrender and save
himself. The other replied that he was a dog and
that he would kill him, and then fired upon him.
Beauvais repeated his request to surrender, to which
Philip answered by firing again. At last Beauvais,
weary of receiving his fire, shot and killed him. We
entered immediately, and everything was pillaged in
an instant. This house was of brick, pierced with
loop holes to the ground floor. Some servants were
made prisoners, and it was said that some people who
had taken refuge in the cellar were burned.” This
Philip was the uncle of General Schuyler, from whom
he inherited the Saratoga lands.

Another military Schuyler was Peter, a nephew of
Quider, whose father Arent had left him an extensive
estate now comprised in the city of Newark, New
Jersey. He was colonel of militia in 1746, and com-
manded the regiment called the Jersey Blues in the
French War. In 17 56, while stationed at Oswego,
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the outpost on Lake Ontario, he was captured by
Montcalm, escaped the Indian massacre which oc-
curred there, and was sent a prisoner to Quebec.
There he distinguished himself by his generosity and
kindness to his fellow captives, among whom was
Israel Putnam, who had escaped as by a miracle from
the slow fire which his savage captors had kindled
around him. Peter served under General Amherst
and was present at the events ending in the conquest
of Canada.

Although some of the Schuylers established them-
selves elsewhere, like Arent in N ew Jersey and Brandt
in New York City, the family continued to be identi.
fied with Albany. There were six mayors of the
name before 1750. The original Dutch house of old
Quider remained on the corner of State and North
Pearl Streets until recent years.  The homestead
called The Flatts which Philip Pieterse had bought
from the Van Rensselaers has never ceased to be
inhabited by descendants of his. The name was
derived from the fertile stretch of level meadow land
which extends north of Albany along the west bank
of the Hudson. The original house was burned
more than a hundred years ago, but portions of the
brick walls were left standing, and being rebuilt on
the same lines, the house still appears very much
as it was. The frame of the barn s the same as when
the Iroquois made it thejr favorite lodging. The
grounds about the house were the rendezvous of the
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military parties which the Schuylers led against Can-
ada. By the door marched the armies in the French
War and the Revolution. There were entertained
Howe, Abercrombie and Amberst, besides number-
less other officers. There was passed the interesting
and hospitable life of Aunt Schuyler, so pleasingly
portrayed in the Memoirs of an American Lady.

A few rods to the north of the house is the old
family burying ground. As the visitor enters it, he
finds himself in a dense wood. Unused for many
years, nature has been allowed to resume her sway.
Forest trees have grown to maturity; their spreading
roots have overthrown headstones and unsettled the
foundations of monuments. A thick undergrowth
hides the moss-covered slabs beneath which sleep
Quider and his hardy kinsmen. As the visitor parts
the branches to read the names of the dead, he finds
here a colonel and there a captain. In the forest
their battles were fought, and now in a forest they
lie, close by the banks of their beloved river.
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Youth of Philip Schuyler—The French and Indian
War.

in his veins. Fourth in descent from Philip

Pieterse, he was grandson of Captain Jo-
hannes and son of Johannes, Jr., Indian Commis.
sioner and Mayor of Albany. Born November 1 ith,
1733, he lost his father when eight years of age and
was brought up by his mother, Cornelia Van Cort-
landt, partly at her house in Albany and partly at The
Flatts, where Aunt Schuyler’s model houschold was
a second home to him. The surroundings of his
boyhood were such as to develop the practical and
hardy qualities necessary for success at a time when
there was no specialization of activity, when a leading
man had to be an adept not only in one but in various
employments. Shooting and fishing were the natural
amusements of the boy; to handle a horse or a canoe,
to sail a sloop, to tread alone without fear the forest
paths, became matters of course. Of moral training
he had the best kind in the example of the simple
and high minded lives which were lived about him
in the family circle at The Flatts; and the religious
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impressions then made upon his youthful character
were strong enough to endure as guides of conduct
throughout a long life.

Of the education to be derived from books, young
Schuyler received a share unusual at that time, and
equalled only by the advantages of the few graduates
of Yale College in the province. A Huguenot tutor
taught him until he was fifteen years old, when he
was sent to New Rochelle, the home of the Huguenot
refugees, and placed in charge of the Rev. Mr.
Stouppe, the pastor of the French Protestant church.
There he remained for three years in close application
to study and learned to speak French, then an unusual
accomplishment for a provincial. At New Rochelle,
as previously at Albany, mathematics was young
Schuyler’s favorite subject, and the circumstance ac-
cords with the methodical, orderly and accurate habit
of mind which afterwards characterized him. Among
his papers are a large number of mathematical cal-
culations, generally made for a practical end, to deter-
mine the height of canal locks or the sinking fund
of the public debt, but often puzzling problems
worked out for amusement only. This intellectual
bent, pursued as it was with pleasure, lies close to
the foundation of Schuyler’s usefulness. The prob-
lems which life was to present to him, in his private
business, in his labors as soldier and statesman, were
often novel, to be solved by independent thought, un-
aided by previous education or experience.
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John Jay as a boy was also one of Mr. Stouppe’s
scholars, and lived at his house some years after
Schuyler. From him we learn that the diet provided
by Mrs. Stouppe was meagre even for those simple
days; and the future Chief Justice had sometimes to
go hungry to bed in a room so ill protected from the
winds of winter that he awoke to find the snow drifted
upon the floor. ~Schuyler’s experience was doubtless
the same. It was while studying at New Rochelle
that there first developed what was destined to be the
chief drawback and impediment in his life, the
liability to attacks of rheumatic gout. This painful
disease confined him to the house for a whole year
while he was yet a growing youth; he never ceased
to be subject to the infliction; and at important junc-
tures, when he needed all his strength of body and
mind, he had the mortification and sorrow of being
totally incapacitated.

After his studies at New Rochelle were concluded,
Schuyler returned to Albany and there pursued a
branch of education very different, but quite as
important for him as the courses of Mr. Stouppe.
The property which he inherited and upon which
must be based his future fortune, consisted chiefly of
lands, only a portion of which was redeemed from
the forest. He had to familiarize himself with these
lands, find tenants to clear and plant them, mark out
the best sites for saw-mills, superintend their erection,
and arrange for the marketing of the lumber. His
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business interests required visits to Oswego, the dis-
tant outpost on Lake Ontario, where the Dutch trader
and the Indian hunter met to exchange peltry for
guns, hatchets and whiskey. He had to know that
watery highway, so often to be followed in peace and
in war—up to Mohawk River, past the fortress-
dwelling of William Johnson, through the country
of the Iroquois, over the Great Carrying Place to
Oneida Lake and down the Oneida River to the fort.
Rough settlers and lawless traders were necessary
associates among whom safety required the cultivation
of firmness and tact. It was part of Schuyler’s life
to become familiar with the Indians, to learn their
ways, how to influence and control them. The war-
like confederacy of the Six Nations was still estab-
lished in the Long House as in the days of Peter
Schuyler, and had still to be cajoled or overawed.
The strong hand of Montcalm held the destinies of
Canada and threatened those of the English colonies.
The blackened ruins of the house at Saratoga, where
lay the ashes of his murdered Uncle Philip, spoke
strongly enough to the youthful Schuyler of dangers
to be faced.

This free and varied life of the frontier, in which
civilized man was brought so close to nature in its
wilder forms, was full of pleasures of its own and of
stimulating contrasts. After the westward journeys
through forest trails or in birch bark canoe amidst a
wilderness whose human inhabitants were little less
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wild than the bear and the elk, the home life at
Albany, with its solid comforts, its simple but lively
social pleasures, acquired a peculiar zest. The
winter’s day passed on snowshoes or skates found a
happy end with book or games before the roaring
logs of a Dutch fire-place. The visits to each other of
the Hudson River families, in winter on sledges
skimming over the frozen surface, in summer by the
leisurely sloop, tacking lazily between the wooded
shores, yielded the more enjoyment that they were
not of everyday occurrence. Many and gay were
the house parties and river frolics among Livingstons,
Van Rensselaers, Van Brughs, de Peysters, Ten
Broecks, Ten Eycks, Bleeckers, Beeckmans, Lansings,
Van Cortlandts and Cuylers. And the sledge or the
sloop of young Philip Schuyler often took him down
the river to Claverack, where Catherine, the daughter
of John Van Rensselaer, was the magnet of greatest
attraction.

Before he had attained his majority, Schuyler paid
several visits to New York, mingled with society there
and formed intimacies with young men who were to
be his allies or adversaries in the exciting scenes of
future years. As a relative of the principal pro-
prietary families of the province, and as a young
stranger who was committed to none of the political
or religious parties of the city, all doors stood open to
him. Both Livingstons and de Lanceys were friendly;
he could be intimate at the same time with Rev. Henry
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Barclay, rector of Trinity Church, and the arch-dis-
senter, John Morin Scott. In the houses of Bayards,
Van Cortlandts, Beeckmans, Watts, de Peysters, he
met a circle of the chief families of the town all more
or less connected with his own. :
New York was a royal province, differing radically
in political and social ideas from the independent and
democratic New England. In these years preceding
the French and Indian War, English prejudices in
favor of aristocratic forms and a state church were
very strong. The Governor’s council, the officials, the
officers and the little court of provincial magnates'who
gathered at Government House gave the tone 'to a
loyal and submissive community. But there was a
party of opposition, republican in sentiment and op-
posed to episcopacy. In this party the leaders were yet
chiefly Presbyterians, because the causes of division
were mainly religious. The clergy and laity of other
denominations were forced to contribute to the salary
of the rector of Trinity Church. The Archbishop of
Canterbury was known to have a plan on foot, ap-
proved by the ministry, for increasing the power of
episcopacy in the province. Many men, distinctly
aristocratic in their feelings, were driven by a dread
of Church predominance and tyranny into an opposi-
tion which became inevitably the party of democracy.
In 1752, was formed the Whig Club, which met
once a week at the King’s Arms. Chief among the
members were William Livingston, William Smith,
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Jr., John Morin Scott, Peter Van Brugh Livingston,
Robert R. Livingston, David Van Horne, William
Alexander, William Peartree Smith and Dr. John
Jones. 'These men discussed politics and government
in a manner quite independent and radical, and scan-
dalized loyal churchmen by drinking the health of
Oliver Cromwell, John Hampden and Hugh Peters.
Three members of the Whig Club took the lead:
William Livingston, William Smith, Jr., and John
Morin Scott, the “wicked triumvirate,”” to whom the
loyalist Judge Jones ascribed the later troubles of
the province. They were all graduates of Yale Col-
lege, an institution remarkable for ‘‘its republican
principles, its intolerance in religion and its utter
aversion to Bishops and all earthly Kings.” Of these
men, William Livingston was destined to become the
distinguished revolutionary patriot and governor of
New Jersey; John Morin Scott, the leader of the
“Liberty Boys” and a powerful factor in the resistance
of New York to ministerial tyranny; William Smith,
Jr., the amiable and witty companion, the cultivated
author of the History of New York, was to go far
with the friends of his youth, but to become at last
a loyalist and an exile and end his days as Chief
Justice of Canada. These three young lawyers car-
ried the war into Africa and earned the undying
hatred of all churchmen by prosecuting at their own
expense the great suit of the heirs of Anneke Jans
against Trinity Church. With Livingston and Smith,
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Philip Schuyler formed a friendship destined to be
intimate.

The establishment of King’s, now Columbia Col-
lege, was then proposed, and the vestry of Trinity
Church offered the land for a building on condition
that the head of the college should always be a mem-
ber of the Church of England and that the Episcopal
ritual should always be used. This proposition at
once became the subject of heated controversy and
political division. William Livingston had lately
founded a weekly publication called the Independent
Reflector, in which the social and political interests
of the province were discussed chiefly by himself. In
the columns of this paper he continued a series of
articles attacking the establishment of the college on
the terms proposed, taking the ground that the money
for its support was to be raised by a general tax, while
the Episcopalians were only a minority in the province.
He was replied to in Gaine’'s Mercury by the church-
men, Barclay, Johnson and Auchmuty. Regarding
this controversy, Schuyler wrote to a friend in Al-
bany:—*I send you the forty-sixth number of the
Independent Reflector, which is making a notable stir
here. The clergy and all churchmen are in arms
against it, and our friend, Will Livingston, who is the
principal writer, is thought by some to be one of the
most promising men in the province. I esteem the
Church and its liturgy, but I believe he is right in
opposing the ridiculous pretensions of the clergy, who
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would make it as infallible as the Popish church
claims to be.”

During one of Schuyler’s visits to New York, the
first theatrical company arrived in the town. It was
warmly welcomed by the Government House circle,
but a number of the more staid gentlemen met and
agreed not to countenance the theatre by their pres-
ence. Apparently they had not consulted their wives
and daughters, who were otherwise minded, and one
by one they fell away from grace and were seen at
the theatre, except William Livingston, who was not
the man to yield a question of principle. Young
Schuyler had no scruples in the matter. In September,
1753, he wrote to his friend * Brom,” Abram Ten
Broeck of Albany, afterwards an important per-
sonage, one of those familiar and illustrative letters
of which we wish we had more :—

“The schooner arrived at Ten Eyck’s wharf on
Wednesday at one o’clock, and the same evening I
went to the play with Phil (Livingston). You know
I told you before I left home that if the players should
be here I should see them, for a player is a new thing
under the sun in our good province. Phil’s sweetheart
went with us. She is a handsome brunette from Bar-
badoes, has an eye like that of a Mohawk beauty
and appears to possess a good understanding. Phil
and I went to see the grand battery in the afternoon,
and to pay my respects to the governor, whose lady
spent a week with us last spring, and we bought our
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play tickets for eight shillings apiece, at Parker and
Weyman's printing office in Beaver Street on our re-
turn. We had tea at five o’clock, and before sundown
we were in the theatre, for the players commenced at
six. The room was quite full already. Among the
company was your cousin Tom and Kitty Livingston,
and also Jack Watts, Sir Peter Warren’s brother-in-
law. I would like to tell you all about the play, but
I can’t now, for Billy must take this to the wharf for
Captain Wynkoop in half an hour. He sails this
afternoon. A large green curtain hung before the
players until they were ready to begin, when, on the
blast of a whistle, it was raised, and some of them
appeared and commenced acting. The play was called
The Conscious Lovers, written you know by Sir
Richard Steele, Addison’s help in writing the Spec-
tator. Hallam, and his wife and sister all performed,
and a sprightly young man named Hulett played the
violin and danced merrily. But I said I could not tell
you about the play, so I will forbear, only adding that
I was not better pleased than I should have been at
the club, where last year I went with cousin Stephen,
and heard many wise sayings which I hope profited me
something. Tomorrow I expect to go into New Jer-
sey to visit Colonel Schuyler, who was at our house
four or five years ago, when he returned from Os-
wego. He is a kinsman and good soldier, and as I
believe we shall have war again with the French quite
as soon as we could wish, I expect he will lead his
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Jerseymen to the field. I wish you and I, Brom,
could go with him. But I must say farewell, with
love to Peggy and sweet Kitty V. R. if you see her.”

In the autumn of 1754, Schuyler came of age. The
English law of primogeniture gave to him, as eldest
son, all the real estate which had belonged to his
father, which meant substantially the whole family
property. The justice of this law was no more ques-
tioned in the province of New York than in England,
nor had its privileges been refused by the eldest son
in the circle of land-holding families with which he
was connected. But Dutch tradition and ‘'the gen-
erosity of Schuyler’s character caused him to disregard
the law. The estate was divided by him equally
among his mother's children, and the considerable
fortune which he afterwards possessed was due to his
own enterprise and industry.

It was in this year that the first shots were fired in
the forests of Virginia by command of Colonel
George Washington in that bloody and decisive
struggle which in Europe was called the Seven Years’
War and in America the French and Indian War.

The importance of this great conflict is somewhat
obscured by the grandeur of those other events, the
American and the French revolutions, which soon
followed and were in considerable measure its se-
quence. But it largely determined the future of the
world. Its results in Europe were to make England
supreme on the seas, commercially and in war, to

42



., THE FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR

make her the great colonial nation of the world, to
give her control in Amgrica and in India. Its results
in America were to abolish the French power, and
thus to make possible the United States, both as to
extent of territory and as to political independence.
All the region between the Alleghany and the Rocky
Mountains, from the Gulf of Mexico to the St. Law-
rence River, was claimed by France by right of ex-
ploration and occupation; the natural highways of
that vast domain, the rivers Ohio, Mississippi, St.
Lawrence and the great lakes, were jealously guarded
by forts, under the command of officers from Ver-
sailles, above which, in the endless expanse of leafy
wilderness, floated the fleur-de-lis of the old mon-
archy,—a flag which represented everything opposed
to human progress. The prize grasped by the wisdom
of Pitt and the valor of Wolfe became the inheritance
of the men who were to build up the American nation.

The perspective of time allows us to see the ulti-
mate meaning of this great conflict, to view it as a
necessary step in the world’s advance from the ab-
solutism of the past to the enlightenment of the
present. But even to the more limited contemporary
view the advantages to accrue to the English colonists
were visible enough. Philip Schuyler could see that
with Canada under British rule, he might rebuild the
house at Saratoga without fear of midnight raids and
conflagration; the tomahawk of the savage might be
buried deep when a Frontenac or a Montcalm ceased
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to incite to the warpath; every year might be pushed
further to the westward the tide of colonization and
enterprise.

The youthful Schuyler played no such important
part in the war as to make it appropriate to follow
the course of military operations in any detail. But
in this school he, like Washington, Putnam, Stark
and many others afterwards distinguished in the
Revolution, obtained such military experience as they
had, and displayed the qualities which, in the later
struggle, induced their fellow citizens to confide to
their courage and abilities the safety of their country.
Early in 1755, Schuyler had raised a company in the
neighborhood of Albany and had received his com-
mission as captain from Governor James de Lancey.
Two of the young captain’s friends, Henry Van
Schaack and Philip Lansing, enlisted as lieutenants
in his company. In that year two great expeditions
took place against New France. In the south, the
English general, Braddock, despising provincial ad-
vice, clinging obstinately to European methods of
warfare, led his regular troops into the Indian ambus-
cade before Fort Duquesne. After that awful slaugh-
ter in the forests of the western wilderness, while his
own life was ebbing away, he realized that Colonel
Washington of Virginia knew something about fight-
ing French and Indians. In the north, this crushing
defeat was redeemed by a victory won by provincials,
fighting in provincial style.
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The object of the northern expedition was Crown
Point, a fort on a peninsula projecting into Lake
Champlain, which commanded the passage of the lake
and for many years had threatened the English
colonies. The commander chosen was William John-
son, an Irishman, nephew of Sir Peter Warren, who
acquired extensive lands on the Mohawk River
through his marriage with Miss Watts of New York,
and had sent out this nephew to manage them. About
nine years before this time Johnson was living ob-
scurely among the Indians on the Mohawk, when an
event occurred which opened a path to his ambition
which he trod thenceforward to wealth and distinc-
tion. Governor Clinton of New York and James de
Lancey, the Chief Justice of the province, were inti-
mate friends and together controlled public affairs at
their will. One night at Government House, when the
two friends had been drinking together, a violent
quarrel arose between them, and de Lancey left with
revengeful threats which he did not fail to execute.
The ensuing enmity between the Governor and the
Chief Justice became a source of great divisions in the
province. Clinton had his official power, and de
Lancey his influence with the Assembly to use in the
conflict. Each dealt severe blows at the interests and
the friends of his opponent. Peter Schuyler, Philip’s
cousin, was then the Indian Commissioner for the
Six Nations, an office almost hereditary in that family.
But he was known as de Lancey’s friend. Clinton put
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in his place William Johnson, who was to show him-
self wonderfully adapted for it.

Johnson lived a wild and adventurous life in his
fortified house on the Mohawk, wielding undisputed
sway over his white tenantry and exerting the power
of a sachem among the Six Nations. His house was
always thronged with Indians whose sleeping forms
encumbered the lower rooms and hall-ways at night.
Fort Johnson, as it was called, was the chief stopping
place on the route between the Hudson River and
the fort on Lake Ontario. The fur trader and the
land prospector received its hospitalities and protec-
tion as they came and went. Philip Schuyler knew it
and its owner well. Over this semi-civilized house-
hold presided for a time a Dutch wife who had two
daughters. When she died her place was taken by a
succession of squaws, among whom was a sister of
the celebrated Brant. The two daughters were kept
on an upper floor, isolated as much as possible from
the wild life about them, under the charge of a gov-
erness, who formed their only society. They both
grew up and married. Johnson himself was power-
fully built, with a good intelligence, rough but jovial,
accustomed to adapt himself to any surroundings,
painting and dressing like a savage when it suited his
purpose, disputing with the Indian orators the palm of
prolixity and imagery, yet keeping up his relations
with civilization and always on good terms with Gov-
ernment House. He had no knowledge of military
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affairs, but he brought to his work his forest experi-
ence. He was the very opposite of Braddock and met
with an opposite fortune.

The rendezvous of the forces intended to attack
Crown Point was at The Flatts, above Albany, near
the Schuyler house. They numbered in all about three
thousand, the New England men under General Ly-
man, the New York regiment under Johnson, while
the wise old chief Hendrick commanded the Indians.
Among the New Englanders was Colonel Ephraim
Williams, whose will, then made at The Flatts, found-
ed Williams College, Lieutenant John Stark and
Israel Putnam, beginning brilliant careers. Johnson
was very slow about starting. The New England
men, then, as afterwards in the Revolution, were
ready to leave their homes to fight; but to remain
inactive in camp under military discipline was intoler-
able to them. To hold together his independent sol-
diers, Lyman started out in advance, and through the
hot July days slowly made his way northward to a
point on the upper Hudson where began the long
“carry” through the woods to Lake George. There
he began the construction of a fort, called Fort Ly-
man, but afterwards known as Fort Edward.

In August, Johnson moved at last, with his New
York companies and his Indians, stopping in the
woods in the heat of the day, and in his jovial manner
gathering his officers around a punch bowl. Arrived
at Fort Lyman, he left five hundred men there to
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finish and garrison the fort, and then with the rest
of the troops he moved northward over the ‘“‘great
carrying place,” a band of men with axes going ahead
to clear a rough road through the forest. At length
the little army arrived at the southern extremity of
the beautiful lake, of which the quiet solitude was
soon to be rudely broken. “I found,” said Johnson,
“a mere wilderness; never was house or fort erected
here before.” The waters which the French called
Lac St. Sacrement, Johnson named Lake George,
“not in simple honor of his Majesty, but to assert his
undoubted dominion here.”” The army then went into
camp, a motley and ill-disciplined assemblage, the
New England ministers exhorting against “cursing
and swearing,” and preaching their sermons to sol-
diers and savages.

Meanwhile the French had no idea of waiting to
be attacked. Baron Dieskau, with three thousand
regulars, Canadians and Indians, had moved south-
ward to Crown Point. He was not only a trained
soldier, but far surpassed Johnson in energy and judg-
ment. Finding no indications of an enemy at Crown
Point, he continued southward to Ticonderoga. There
his scouts brought in a prisoner who gave him in-
formation of Fort Lyman. The bold Dieskau pushed
on, making a circuit to the east of Lake George by
way of the South Bay, and at length found himself
on the rough forest road which connected Fort Lyman
with Johnson's Camp. He had hardly arrived there
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when 2 man came galloping down the road. Dieskau’s
Indians shot and scalped him. Upon him was found
a letter from Johnson to the officer in command of
Fort Lyman, warning him of Dieskau’s approach.
Johnson’s scouts to the eastward had come in report-
ing the woods to be swarming with French and In-
dians heading toward Fort Lyman, and Johnson had
sent off the ill-fated messenger. This was the first that
Dieskau knew of Johnson's Camp. Soon afterwards
some mutinous waggoners who had deserted from the
camp came down the road. Two were shot, two were
made prisoners and gave Dieskau full information of
the forces at Fort Lyman and the camp at Lake
George. Others escaped and hastening backward,
told Johnson of Dieskau’s position. Each commander
now understood the position of his enemy.

Dieskau was anxious to continue southward and
take Fort Lyman first. But his savage allies had a
great dread of cannon which they supposed would be
in action at the fort. They refused to follow the
French there, but consented to attack the camp at
Lake George, although it contained the main body
of the enemy. Early the next morning Dieskau set
out along the road to the north and had got within
three miles of Johnson's Camp when his scouts
brought in a prisoner who gave the information that
an attacking force had left the camp. The news was
true. Johnson had sent out a thousand men under

Colonel Williams and Chief Hendrick. Dieskau
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immediately disposed his Canadians and Indians on
both sides of the road in ambush. Into the fatal am-
buscade Williams and Hendrick marched at the head
of their column and fell at the first fire. A panic
seized the English force taken by surprise and a re-
treat to the camp began. But the vanguard, now
become the rear, fought so obstinately from behind
the trees, that the retreat soon became orderly and
Dieskau’s force was by no means in a triumphant
mood as it advanced. This engagement was long
talked of at Dutch and New England firesides as “the
bloody morning scout.”

In the camp, the sound of musketry was distinctly
heard. It grew louder and louder, and then the Eng-
lish knew that their comrades were retreating. At the
eleventh hour, when almost too late, Johnson at-
tempted to fortify his position. Trees were hastily
felled and a rough obstruction raised. The ambushed
column began to arrive, first frightened stragglers,
then men carrying the wounded, then the main body
in good order, firing to the last. Every man was
placed in position. Some cannon were dragged up a
bank in the rear of the camp and breastworks hastily
thrown up about them. Dieskau’s white-coated regu-
lars soon appeared in serried rank, their bayonets
flashing among the trees. The Canadians and Indians
approached on either flank uttering frightful yells.
It was the critical moment. The provincial troops
within the camp had never been under fire before.
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